

#### **Division of Substance Use Programs**

With the ongoing opioid and overdose crisis, it's crucial to consider all evidence-based options that are proven effective. Public health practice indicates the most effective way to address a health concern, including overdoses, is to ensure a comprehensive set of strategies to meet the needs of those most impacted by the health concern. Vermont's harm reduction strategies continue to evolve as new evidence-based practices are identified and as the drug use landscape continues to change. It is important to note that there is no single solution to this complex and ever-changing issue.

This document provides information about overdose prevention centers considering recent discussions in

#### **Key Points:**

- Between 2013 and 2022 the number of accidental and undetermined fatal drug overdoses among Vermont residents has increased more than 200%.
- Fatal overdoses most often occur when people use drugs alone. Overdose prevention centers reduce risks associated with using drugs while alone.
- Local assessment, capacity building, and planning to grow community buy-in and support is essential.

Vermont around their implementation in our communities. The information provided is based on peer-reviewed research, Vermont data, and links to primary resources.

# Table of Contents

What are overdose prevention centers?	.2
What are the different terms used to describe these centers?	.2
What is the purpose of overdose prevention centers?	.2
What services do overdose prevention centers offer?	.3
How are overdose prevention centers initially set up?	.3
What has been the impact of overdose prevention centers?	.4
What about overdose prevention centers in Vermont?	.5
What trends are we seeing in drugs in Vermont?	.5
What resources already exist in Vermont?	.6
Links to more information about overdose prevention centers in the United States and Canada:	.6
Information reviewed related to this topic:	.7
For more information or questions, contact the Vermont Department of Health	10

- Supervised consumption service,
- Safe injection facility.
- Supervised injection facility,
- o Harm reduction center, and

2020

2022

Enhanced harm reduction service. 0

#### Return to table of contents

Return to table of contents

# What are overdose prevention centers?

- Most often, these facilities are designed to be spaces where people can use pre-obtained drugs, with sterile supplies, in the presence of staff available to respond if there is an overdose or other adverse drug reaction.
- In addition to the essential service of supervised use of drugs, the services offered at these facilities vary widely and can range from providing an unsanctioned safe space for people to use substances, to sites that include low-barrier housing that incorporates primary and mental health care, connections to other services, and in Canada, some sites provide prescribed medication as an alternative to the illicit drug supply.
- These facilities can be designed for only one method of drug use, such as injection, or they can be designed for multiple methods of consumption such as smoking or inhalation.
- They can be located in fixed sites (in a building), in mobile sites (vans, buses, RVs), or temporary sites.
- Not all centers or sites offer the same services.

#### What are the different terms used to describe these centers?

- Many different terms may be used when we talk about places where people can use preobtained drugs with people available to respond if there is an overdose.
- Some of these terms are:
  - Safe consumption site,
  - Overdose prevention site.
  - Overdose prevention center,
  - Drug consumption room,
  - Supervised consumption site,

What is the purpose of overdose prevention centers?

between 2013 and 2022

- Overdose prevention centers provide a safe space for people to use pre-obtained drugs so that if they experience an overdose, life-saving interventions can be administered.
- To date, there have been no overdose deaths at overdose prevention centers.

The total number of accidental and undetermined fatal drug overdoses among Vermont residents has increased more than 200%

In Vermont the number of people who have died from drug overdoses has increased more than 200% between 2013 and 2022.



269

2022

2

- Data in the <u>2023 Vermont Social Autopsy report</u> show that people who are dying from an overdose are more likely to be using drugs at a home and are often using drugs alone.
- Many people who died of an overdose were alone, with 41% of the people who died of an overdose in 2021 having no witness to the drug use and no bystander present at the overdose.
- Most people died at either their home or a friend's home (61%).

Return to table of contents

#### What services do overdose prevention centers offer?

- Overdose prevention centers, and similar sites or centers, can offer a wide range of services. The essential component they all share is a safer space for people to use pre-obtained drugs with someone to intervene if there is an overdose to prevent people from dying.
- Overdose prevention centers in New York City offer food, showers, bathrooms, laundry, syringe exchange, safer drug use supplies, harm reduction education, HIV and Hepatitis C testing, wound care, medication assisted treatment (this is also known as MAT or medication for opioid use disorder, MOUD), medical assessment, linkage to substance use disorder treatment programs, counseling, and case managers to assist with mental health services, and navigating supports such as nutritional or housing supports.
- In addition to a space for drug consumption, <u>the center scheduled to open in the summer of</u> <u>2024 in Rhode Island</u> plans to offer food, water, hygiene products, safe use supplies, naloxone, case management, HIV and Hepatitis C testing and linkage to care, peer recovery coaching, support groups, laundry, showers, and medical personnel (providers, nurses, counselors) to provide access to treatment services.
- People may not elect to or be able to use overdose prevention centers each time they use substances.
- Overdose prevention centers need to work with the surrounding community to understand what services the community needs.
   Return to table of contents

#### How are overdose prevention centers initially set up?

- The best way to implement a center is to complete a study involving the community it will serve, which can also address equity concerns. These studies use information from the community to understand where an overdose prevention center could be located, what services might be offered, and what partnerships are needed in the community for the center to be successful.
- Stakeholder involvement in the planning process of developing an overdose prevention center is an integral step. Stakeholders can be people who use drugs, residents of the community, business owners, law enforcement, emergency services, politicians or others who develop policy and legislation, departments of health, local healthcare systems, zoning boards, landlords, insurers, and local/state/territorial/federal government, among others.
- Inclusion of people who use drugs in planning is essential and increases the likelihood of people using these centers. These studies inform how overdose prevention centers can meet the needs of the community. This can take some time to do but it is an important step.
- Feasibility studies have been conducted in <u>New York City</u> and <u>Massachusetts</u>.
- Canada has an extensive <u>application process</u> for applying to run a supervised consumption site in their country.
- With 2 current sanctioned centers in the U.S. and 46 in Canada, it is possible to learn from the successes and challenges of existing operations.

Return to table of contents

## What has been the impact of overdose prevention centers?

- Because of the varying services offered at overdose prevention centers and other similar sites or centers, the impact of each center or site can be different in each community. Citing multiple sources, the <u>National Institute on Drug Abuse says</u>:
  - Overdose prevention centers have operated for years in countries outside the United States. Evidence from more than 20 years of overdose prevention center operations in other countries indicate that no one has died of a drug overdose while at an overdose prevention center.<sup>2,3,4</sup> However, it is unclear whether such facilities reduce overdose death rates overall. Additional research finds that these facilities are associated with reduced public drug use<sup>5</sup> and lower demand on local healthcare and emergency response services<sup>6,7</sup> without an increase of crime.<sup>8</sup> Studies also suggest that overdose prevention centers are associated with increased access to substance use disorder treatment.<sup>4</sup> (NIDA. 2023, August 28. Overdose Prevention Centers. Retrieved from <a href="https://nida.nih.gov/research-topics/overdose-prevention-centers">https://nida.nih.gov/research-topics/overdose-prevention-centers</a> on 2024, March 29.)
- To understand the impact of the overdose prevention centers in New York City and Rhode Island these centers are <u>being studied</u> by a team of researchers from New York University Langone Health and Brown University School of Public Health. This research study is funded by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (<u>NIDA</u>), which is part of the National Institutes of Health (<u>NIH</u>) and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (<u>HHS</u>).
- Some <u>examples of the ways that researchers can measure the impact of overdose prevention</u> <u>centers</u> include: overdose emergency department visits, hospitalization rates, death rates, crime rates, number of overdoses, number of overdoses reversed, number of drug consumption events, rates of public drug use, utilization of emergency medical services, number of people referred to treatment or other services, number of people who accessed treatment or other services, number of people who use the centers who are then hospitalized for injection-related skin infection, and rate of injection-related infectious diseases.
- Overdose prevention centers can provide essential harm reduction services to the people who use them. Studies of overdose prevention centers highlight benefits that are not easily measurable: creating a sense of community, building trust between people who use drugs and staff, reducing stigma and shame, humanizing people through providing essential services (food, clothing, showers, laundry), allowing for increased agency, allowing for a sense of safety, and improving self-esteem and self-worth which can motivate people to pursue treatment.
- Studies report no consistent impact on community fatality rates, as the studies cannot control for the lethality of the drug supply and the combinations of drugs being used by clients.
- The Canadian government tracks data related to their country in a data dashboard: <u>Supervised</u> <u>consumption sites: Dashboard – Canada.ca</u>. As of 3/26/24 their statistics show that between January 2017 and October 2023 there have been:
  - Over 4 million total visits (4,480,823)
  - o 389,843 unique clients
  - o 52,997 non-fatal overdoses
  - 0 Fatal overdoses
  - o 424,305 total referrals
- There is limited research about overdose prevention centers in rural settings.

## What about overdose prevention centers in Vermont?

- According to the <u>2023 Vermont Social Autopsy report</u>, people who are dying from an overdose are more likely to be using at a home and often alone.
- To reach the most vulnerable and most impacted, health messaging and community work to reduce stigma and provide harm reduction information are essential so that people are more comfortable seeking any type of assistance for their substance use. This help can be from harm reduction organizations, overdose prevention centers, or organizations further along the continuum of care such as recovery or treatment providers.
- Overdose prevention center research highlights the importance of doing local assessment, capacity building and planning to grow community buy-in and support, ensure the community needs are identified and met, and identify and address barriers to using services.
- In a rural state like Vermont we have seen how many barriers there can be to accessing services. Barriers can include (but are not limited to) hours of operation, transportation, comfort and levels of trust, safety concerns of the community, expectation of privacy and safety, and the ability to recruit and retain staff.
- Availability of workforce in the substance use system of care is currently a significant issue in Vermont and has impacted the viability of programs and the accessibility of services.

Return to table of contents

## What trends are we seeing in drugs in Vermont?

- Fentanyl is the primary opioid involved in <u>fatal opioid overdoses</u> but the Health Department has been seeing increased involvement of xylazine and gabapentin.
- Substances such as xylazine, gabapentin, and other non-opioid drugs cannot be detected with
  fentanyl test strips. Xylazine test strips exist but are a separate test from the fentanyl test strip
  (click here for information on availability). Narcan® (naloxone), a medicine that can reverse an
  opioid overdose, does not reverse the impact of these non-opioid substances in an overdose
  emergency. This can mean a higher risk of death.
- The increased number of opioid overdose deaths in which non-opioid drugs such as xylazine and gabapentin are present highlights the importance of following the "What should you do during an opioid overdose?" guidance on <u>KnowODVT.com</u>.
- If an overdose is suspected, call 9-1-1, give naloxone, and start rescue breathing. If non-opioid drugs are involved, naloxone alone may not be effective and additional medical assessment will be needed.
- Over the last decade, most accidental and undetermined manner drug overdose deaths among Vermont residents involved opioids. Of the 1,462 drug overdose deaths that occurred from 2013 to 2022 among Vermonters, <u>181 did not involve opioids</u> (12%).
- <u>2023</u> and <u>2022 Vermont Social Autopsy report data</u> indicate that intravenous drug use (administering drugs into a vein) is a risk factor for death by overdose. Scene evidence suggests that the most common methods of use among Vermonters who died from drug overdose is changing. In 2019 the most common methods of use were intravenous (51%), snorting (24%), ingestion (22%), and smoking (15%). In 2020, the most common methods of use were intravenous (41%), smoking (19%), and snorting (17%). In 2021, the most common methods of use were intravenous (37%), smoking (29%), and snorting (20%).

• The Health Department has also seen a significant increase in the number of new cases in Vermont in 2023 of <u>invasive group A strep in Vermont in 2023</u>. The most common risk factors were having chronic wounds, using injectable drugs, and having hepatitis C.

Return to table of contents

#### What resources already exist in Vermont?

- <u>Syringe Services Programs (SSP)</u> are effective community-based programs that can prevent infectious diseases, link clients to treatment for substance use disorders, and can reduce overdose deaths among people who use drugs. They do not increase illegal drug use or crime. SSPs offer free and anonymous services including syringes, supplies, overdose prevention resources, and other support services throughout Vermont. Clients of SSPs are protected from our state's paraphernalia law. There are organizations who provide these services in Vermont utilizing both mobile and fixed SSPs throughout all 14 counties of the state.
- <u>VT Helplink</u> is a statewide, public resource for finding substance use treatment and recovery services in Vermont. VT Helplink services are free and confidential. There is a statewide network of preferred <u>treatment providers</u> and <u>recovery centers</u> in Vermont offering a variety of treatment and recovery services.
- Naloxone (Narcan®) nasal spray can reverse an overdose caused by an opioid drug. In Vermont, naloxone is available for free and distributed through <u>community organizations</u>, such as SSPs and recovery organizations, <u>emergency medical services (EMS)</u>, and treatment organizations.
- Fentanyl and xylazine test strips can be used to test drug supplies to determine the presence (not amount) of fentanyl and xylazine. These test strips are available for free through SSPs and other community organizations.
- <u>Never Use Alone</u> is a free and anonymous (exact location must be provided) service where people who are using drugs alone can call and be monitored for medical emergencies. If the caller becomes unresponsive, emergency medical services are notified to respond.

Return to table of contents

# Links to more information about overdose prevention centers in the United States and Canada:

- Overdose Prevention Centers | National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) (nih.gov)
- A Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse report on Overdose Prevention Centers (<u>https://nida.nih.gov/sites/default/files/NIH-RTC-Overdose-Prevention-Centers.pdf</u>)
- Rhode Island's harm reduction center pilot program <u>HRCFactSheet-2.14.22 (ri.gov)</u>
- <u>Massachusetts public health officials release latest opioid-related overdose reports: Feasibility</u> report concludes that overdose prevention centers would be effective at reducing overdoses and fatalities Mass.gov
- Information about supervised consumption sites and services in Canada: <u>Supervised</u> <u>consumption sites and services - Canada.ca</u>
- Information about a mobile supervised consumption service in a Canadian city, Grande Prairie, with a population of approximately 64,000 people: <u>SCS - Northreach Society</u> <u>Return to table of contents</u>

#### Information reviewed related to this topic:

Behrends, C. N., Paone, D., Nolan, M. L., Tuazon, E., Murphy, S. M., Kapadia, S. N., Jeng, P. J., Bayoumi, A. M., Kunins, H. V., & Schackman, B. R. (2019). Estimated impact of supervised injection facilities on overdose fatalities and healthcare costs in New York City. Journal of substance abuse treatment, 106, 79–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2019.08.010</u>

Belackova, V., Salmon, A. M., Day, C. A., Ritter, A., Shanahan, M., Hedrich, D., Kerr, T., & Jauncey, M. (2019). Drug consumption rooms: A systematic review of evaluation methodologies. Drug and alcohol review, 38(4), 406–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12919</u>

Boyd, J., Lavalley, J., Czechaczek, S., Mayer, S., Kerr, T., Maher, L., & McNeil, R. (2020). "Bed Bugs and Beyond": An ethnographic analysis of North America's first women-only supervised drug consumption site. The International journal on drug policy, 78, 102733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102733

Caulkins, J. P., Pardo, B., & Kilmer, B. (2019). Supervised consumption sites: a nuanced assessment of the causal evidence. Addiction (Abingdon, England), 114(12), 2109–2115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14747</u>

Chambers, L. C., Hallowell, B. D., Zang, X., Rind, D. M., Guzauskas, G. F., Hansen, R. N., Fuchs, N., Scagos, R. P., & Marshall, B. D. L. (2022). The estimated costs and benefits of a hypothetical supervised consumption site in Providence, Rhode Island. The International journal on drug policy, 108, 103820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103820</u>

Childs, E., Biello, K. B., Valente, P. K., Salhaney, P., Biancarelli, D. L., Olson, J., Earlywine, J. J., Marshall, B. D. L., & Bazzi, A. R. (2021). Implementing harm reduction in non-urban communities affected by opioids and polysubstance use: A qualitative study exploring challenges and mitigating strategies. The International journal on drug policy, 90, 103080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.103080

Davidson, P. J., Lambdin, B. H., Browne, E. N., Wenger, L. D., & Kral, A. H. (2021). Impact of an unsanctioned safe consumption site on criminal activity, 2010-2019. Drug and alcohol dependence, 220, 108521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108521</u>

Dong, K. A., Brouwer, J., Johnston, C., & Hyshka, E. (2020). Supervised consumption services for acute care hospital patients. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne, 192(18), E476–E479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.191365</u>

Glegg, S., McCrae, K., Kolla, G., Touesnard, N., Turnbull, J., Brothers, T. D., Brar, R., Sutherland, C., Le Foll, B., Sereda, A., Goyer, M. È., Rai, N., Bernstein, S., & Fairbairn, N. (2022). "COVID just kind of opened a can of whoop-ass": The rapid growth of safer supply prescribing during the pandemic documented through an environmental scan of addiction and harm reduction services in Canada. The International journal on drug policy, 106, 103742.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103742

Government of Canada. (2022, December 15). Government of Canada. Interactive map: Canada's response to the opioid crisis. Retrieved March 1, 2023, from <u>https://health.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-medication/opioids/responding-canada-opioid-crisis/map.html#wb-auto-7</u>

Harocopos, A., Gibson, B. E., Saha, N., McRae, M. T., See, K., Rivera, S., & Chokshi, D. A. (2022). First 2 Months of Operation at First Publicly Recognized Overdose Prevention Centers in US. JAMA network open, 5(7), e2222149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.22149</u>

Ivsins, A., MacKinnon, L., Bowles, J. M., Slaunwhite, A., & Bardwell, G. (2022). Overdose Prevention and Housing: a Qualitative Study Examining Drug Use, Overdose Risk, and Access to Safer Supply in Permanent Supportive Housing in Vancouver, Canada. Journal of urban health : bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine, 99(5), 855–864. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-022-00679-7</u>

Ivsins, A., Warnock, A., Small, W., Strike, C., Kerr, T., & Bardwell, G. (2023). A scoping review of qualitative research on barriers and facilitators to the use of supervised consumption services. The International journal on drug policy, 111, 103910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103910</u>

Kennedy, M. C., Hayashi, K., Milloy, M. J., Compton, M., & Kerr, T. (2022). Health impacts of a scaleup of supervised injection services in a Canadian setting: an interrupted time series analysis. Addiction (Abingdon, England), 117(4), 986–997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15717</u>

Kennedy, M. C., Hayashi, K., Milloy, M. J., Wood, E., & Kerr, T. (2019). Supervised injection facility use and all-cause mortality among people who inject drugs in Vancouver, Canada: A cohort study. PLoS medicine, 16(11), e1002964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002964</u>

Kennedy, M. C., Karamouzian, M., & Marshall, B. D. L. (2022). The North American opioid crisis: how effective are supervised consumption sites?. Lancet (London, England), 400(10361), 1403–1404. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01593-8

Khair, S., Eastwood, C. A., Lu, M., & Jackson, J. (2022). Supervised consumption site enables cost savings by avoiding emergency services: a cost analysis study. Harm reduction journal, 19(1), 32. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-022-00609-5

Klaire, S., Sutherland, C., Kerr, T., & Kennedy, M. C. (2022). A low-barrier, flexible safe supply program to prevent deaths from overdose. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne, 194(19), E674–E676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.211515</u>

Kral, A. H., Lambdin, B. H., Wenger, L. D., & Davidson, P. J. (2020). Evaluation of an Unsanctioned Safe Consumption Site in the United States. The New England journal of medicine, 383(6), 589–590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2015435</u>

Kryszajtys, D. T., Xavier, J., Rudzinski, K., Guta, A., Chan Carusone, S., & Strike, C. J. (2022). Stakeholder preferences for supervised consumption site design, staff, and ancillary services: A scoping review of feasibility studies. Drug and alcohol dependence, 230, 109179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.109179</u>

Lambdin, B. H., Davidson, P. J., Browne, E. N., Suen, L. W., Wenger, L. D., & Kral, A. H. (2022). Reduced Emergency Department Visits and Hospitalisation with Use of an Unsanctioned Safe Consumption Site for Injection Drug Use in the United States. Journal of general internal medicine, 37(15), 3853–3860. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-021-07312-4</u>

Levengood, T. W., Yoon, G. H., Davoust, M. J., Ogden, S. N., Marshall, B. D. L., Cahill, S. R., & Bazzi, A. R. (2021). Supervised Injection Facilities as Harm Reduction: A Systematic Review. American journal of preventive medicine, 61(5), 738–749. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2021.04.017</u>

Mamdani, Z., McKenzie, S., Ackermann, E., Voyer, R., Cameron, F., Scott, T., Pauly, B., & Buxton, J. A. (2023). The Cost of Caring: Compassion Fatigue among Peer Overdose Response Workers in British Columbia. Substance use & misuse, 58(1), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2022.2148481

Mema, S. C., Frosst, G., Bridgeman, J., Drake, H., Dolman, C., Lappalainen, L., & Corneil, T. (2019). Mobile supervised consumption services in Rural British Columbia: lessons learned. Harm reduction journal, 16(1), 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-018-0273-3</u>

Nolan, S., Kelian, S., Kerr, T., Young, S., Malmgren, I., Ghafari, C., Harrison, S., Wood, E., Lysyshyn, M., & Holliday, E. (2022). Harm reduction in the hospital: An overdose prevention site (OPS) at a Canadian hospital. Drug and alcohol dependence, 239, 109608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2022.109608

O'Rourke, A., White, R. H., Park, J. N., Rodriguez, K., Kilkenny, M. E., Sherman, S. G., & Allen, S. T. (2019). Acceptability of safe drug consumption spaces among people who inject drugs in rural West Virginia. Harm reduction journal, 16(1), 51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-019-0320-8</u>

Panagiotoglou D. (2022). Evaluating the population-level effects of overdose prevention sites and supervised consumption sites in British Columbia, Canada: Controlled interrupted time series. PloS one, 17(3), e0265665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265665</u>

Panagiotoglou, D., & Lim, J. (2022). Using synthetic controls to estimate the population-level effects of Ontario's recently implemented overdose prevention sites and consumption and treatment services. The International journal on drug policy, 110, 103881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103881

Pauly, B., Wallace, B., Pagan, F., Phillips, J., Wilson, M., Hobbs, H., & Connolly, J. (2020). Impact of overdose prevention sites during a public health emergency in Victoria, Canada. PloS one, 15(5), e0229208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229208</u>

Rubin, R., & Suran, M. (2022). Supervised Consumption Sites-A Tool for Reducing Risk of Overdose Deaths and Infectious Diseases in People Who Use Illicit Drugs. JAMA, 327(16), 1532–1534. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.4017

Samuels, E. A., Bailer, D. A., & Yolken, A. (2022). Overdose Prevention Centers: An Essential Strategy to Address the Overdose Crisis. JAMA network open, 5(7), e2222153. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.22153

Sherman, S. G., Rouhani, S., White, R. H., Weicker, N., Morris, M., Schneider, K., Park, J. N., & Barry, C. (2022). Acceptability of Overdose Prevention Sites in the Business Community in Baltimore, Maryland. Journal of urban health : bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine, 99(4), 723–732. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-022-00647-1

Shorter, G. W., Harris, M., McAuley, A., Trayner, K. M., & Stevens, A. (2022). The United Kingdom's first unsanctioned overdose prevention site; A proof-of-concept evaluation. The International journal on drug policy, 104, 103670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103670</u>

Suen, L. W., Davidson, P. J., Browne, E. N., Lambdin, B. H., Wenger, L. D., & Kral, A. H. (2022). Effect of an Unsanctioned Safe Consumption Site in the United States on Syringe Sharing, Rushed Injections, and Isolated Injection Drug Use: A Longitudinal Cohort Analysis. Journal of acquired

immune deficiency syndromes (1999), 89(2), 172–177. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.00000000002849

Tran, V., Reid, S. E., Roxburgh, A., & Day, C. A. (2021). Assessing Drug Consumption Rooms and Longer Term (5 Year) Impacts on Community and Clients. Risk management and healthcare policy, 14, 4639–4647. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S244720</u>

Urbanik, M. M., Maier, K., & Greene, C. (2022). A qualitative comparison of how people who use drugs' perceptions and experiences of policing affect supervised consumption services access in two cities. The International journal on drug policy, 104, 103671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103671

Vanjani, R., Soske, J., Pitts, A., & Bailer, D. (2022). Reflections From Rhode Island's Safe Consumption Sites Regulations Committee: A Lesson in Racial Equity. Journal of addiction medicine, 16(6), 624–626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000996</u>

Yoon, G. H., Levengood, T. W., Davoust, M. J., Ogden, S. N., Kral, A. H., Cahill, S. R., & Bazzi, A. R. (2022). Implementation and sustainability of safe consumption sites: a qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis. Harm reduction journal, 19(1), 73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-022-00655-z</u>

Return to table of contents

For more information or questions, contact the Vermont Department of Health.